
AGENDA 
CITY OF CAMILLA COUNCIL MEETING 

4th FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM 
LIVE BROADCAST - CITY OF CAMILLA FACEBOOK PAGE 

MONDAY, JANUARY 10, 2022 ~ 6:30 P.M. 
 
 
 

1. Call to Order; Roll Call 
 

2. Opening Prayer and Pledge 
 
3. Approval of Minutes: 

a. December 13, 2021 Council Meeting 
 

4. Recognition of Outgoing Councilmembers 
 

5. Adjourn 
 
6. Swearing in Ceremony – Judge Gregory (Greg) Williams Officiating 

a. Raimond Dewayne Burley 
b. William D. Palmer 
c. Venterra Pollard  
d. Laura Beth Tucker 
 

7. Election of Mayor Pro Tem for 2022 
 

8. Swearing in Ceremony – Judge Gregory (Greg) Williams Officiating 
a. Mayor Pro Tem 

 
9. Approval of Agenda 

 
10. Speaker Appearances 

a. Non-Agenda Items 
None 

 
b. Agenda Items 

None 
 

11. Action Items:  
a. GDOT/Camilla Corporate Hangar Contract Approval 
b. Resolution No. 2022-01-10-01 Authorizing 4th Amendment to 

Telecommunications Contract with MEAG  
c. Resolution No. 2022-01-10-02 Approving Mitchell County Pre-hazard 

Mitigation Plan 
 

12. City Manager's Report 
 

13. Mayor's Announcements 
 

14. Adjourn 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 6 

 

MINUTES – REGULAR MEETING 
CITY OF CAMILLA, GEORGIA 

DECEMBER 13, 2021 
 
The regular meeting of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Camilla was called to order at 
6:30 p.m. on Monday, December 13, 2021 by Mayor Owens.   
 
Roll call indicated the following present: Councilman Campbell, Councilwoman Willingham, 
Councilman Morgan, Councilman Twitty, Councilman Pollard, and Councilman Palmer. 
 
City Manager Steve Sykes, City Attorney Tommy Coleman, and City Clerk Cheryl Ford were 
also present. 
 

OPENING PRAYER AND PLEDGE 
Councilman Twitty gave the invocation and the Mayor and Council led the Pledge of Allegiance 
to the Flag.  
 

CITIZENS AND GUESTS 
Sign-in Sheet Attached. 
  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
On motion by Councilman Pollard, seconded by Councilman Campbell, the December 13, 2021 
agenda was approved as presented by a unanimous vote. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
On motion by Councilman Campbell, seconded by Councilwoman Willingham, the minutes 
from the November 8, 2021 City Council Meeting were approved as presented by a unanimous 
vote.  
 

ACTION ITEMS 
ORDINANCE NO. 2021-12-13-1 – OFFICIAL NAME FOR SPLASH PARK 
On November 8, 2021 the Council conducted the first of two readings of Ordinance No. 2021-
12-13-1. The Ordinance provides for the official name of the new splash park on Oakland 
Avenue. A 30-day period was provided for citizen input and Council consideration on the 
official name for the park. The second reading of the Ordinance, conducted tonight, officially 
designates the name of the park “Camilla Splash Park”. The Council recommends adoption of 
Ordinance No. 2021-12-13-1 and authorizes the Mayor to sign. Councilman Twitty commented 
he thought the name Camilla Splash Park is worthwhile and a step forward for us. They 
discussed at one time Oakland Street Park and Oakland Street has probably been a dividing line 
for the city of Camilla for years. It is a great idea to name it Camilla Splash Park and bring both 
districts together in one project and applauds the name Camilla Splash Park.  
 
On motion by Councilman Morgan and seconded by Councilwoman Willingham, the motion to 
approve Ordinance No. 2021-12-13-1 and authorize the Mayor to sign passed by a unanimous 
vote. 



Page 2 of 6 

 

APPOINTMENTS – BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
The Council reviewed and discussed a list of recommended appointees to the 2022 City of 
Camilla Boards and Commissions. For consideration the following were offered for 
appointment/reappointment: 
 

 
A motion was made by Councilman Morgan and seconded by Councilman Pollard. City 
Manager Sykes stated Council asked him to touch base with the Airport Advisory Committee 
and the only vacant position not covered by Councilman Morgan’s presentation is the vacancy 
on the Airport Advisory Committee. Speaking with members of the committee their 
recommendation is Ronald Hays be appointed. They cited he is making an investment and has a 
considerable interest in the Airport. Mayor Owens asked Councilman Morgan to amend his 
motion to include Ronald Hays as part of the Airport Board for consideration. Councilman 
Morgan added to his motion the appointment of Ronald Hays to the Airport Authority Board. 
This appointment does not have a term limit and is appointed until Council appoints a new 
member or the appointee resigns. Councilman Morgan stated it is in the form of a motion with 
the added committee member. Councilman Twitty seconded the motion. Councilman Pollard 
commented in their Committee Meeting they discussed it was not in the best interest to have two 
owners on the Airport Advisory Committee.  After further discussion and comments, the motion 
to approve the appointments and reappointments as presented and the appointment of Ronald 
Hays to the Airport Advisory Committee passed by a 5-1 vote with Councilman Pollard voting 
no. 

 
BOARD/COMMISSION 

APPOINTMENT/ 
REAPPOINTMENT 

 
TERM ENDS 

Planning Commission Laura Vann 
Dorothy Hill 

Dec. 2025 
Dec. 2025 

Library Board Laura Beth Tucker End of Elected Term 
Regional Commission W.D. Palmer III Dec. 2022 
Regional Commission (non-public) Nathaniel Keaton Dec. 2022 
Historic Preservation Ginger Kimmel Dec. 2024 
Mitchell County Recreation Board Corey Morgan Dec. 2022 
Development Authority of the City of Camilla Eddie Toombs 

Ondrea Peoples 
Dec. 2027 
Dec. 2027 

Tree Committee W.D. Palmer III 
Martha Cabiness 
Janice Smith 
Rad Yager 

Dec. 2022 
Dec. 2022 
Dec. 2022 
Dec. 2022 

Zoning Appeals Board Vic Warren 
Tim Wade 
Danny Singleton 

Dec. 2024 
Dec. 2024 
Dec. 2024 

Animal Control Appeals Board Jimmy Holton 
Charles Stripling 
Gustine Hayward 
Dan Jenkins III 

Dec. 2024 
Dec. 2024 
Dec. 2024 
Dec. 2023 

Camilla/Mitchell County Land Bank Barbara Reddick 
Kelvin Owens 

Dec. 2023 
Dec. 2023 

Radio User Board Dewayne Burley 
Laura Beth Tucker 

End of Elected Term 
End of Elected Term 



Page 3 of 6 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-13-1 – DECLARING SURPLUS PROPERTY/ 
CONVEYANCE OF QUIT CLAIM DEED – 23 TWITTY STREET 
The Council reviewed Resolution No. 2021-12-13-1 declaring surplus property identified as 23 
Twitty Street along with a quitclaim deed conveying the property to the City of Camilla 
Development Authority (CDA). The City Council approved transfer of the property to the City 
of Camilla Development Authority to market and sell for economic development on June 14, 
2021. The CDA has sold the property and the City of Camilla is officially declaring the property 
surplus and transferring to the City of Camilla Development Authority. The Council 
recommends approval to declare as surplus and execution of a quitclaim deed with authorization 
for the Mayor to sign all documents related to the property transfer transaction. 
 
On motion by Councilman Morgan and seconded by Councilman Campbell, the motion to 
declare the property as surplus, execution of a quitclaim deed, and approval of Resolution No. 
2021-12-13-1 with authorization for the Mayor to sign all documents related to the property 
transfer transaction passed by a unanimous vote. 
      
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-13-2 – REAPPORTIONMENT 
Councilman Morgan asked for an explanation of the document provided to Council which was 
not part of the original packet contents. City Clerk Ford and City Attorney Coleman explained it 
was the same document they were provided at the Committee Meeting on Monday and was a 
replacement place for the one in the packet, which was provided in error. The Council reviewed 
information provided by Attorney Coleman for the 2020 census results and the City’s election 
district map. After careful consideration and deliberation, the Mayor and City Council 
determined the districts as currently drawn meet the requirements of the United States Justice 
Department and the districts as presented on the current election district map show a deviation of 
less than two percent for each district. The Council recommends approval of Resolution No. 
2021-12-13-2 reaffirming the existing election districts as shown on Exhibit A attached to the 
Resolution. 

A motion was made by Councilman Morgan and seconded by Councilwoman Willingham. City 
Manager Sykes stated Exhibit A is a part of the Resolution and it would be better to take the 
numbers in the Exhibit and make them part of the Resolution in Section 2. If appropriate, that 
can be added as a recommendation for inclusion of the actual numbers in the Resolution. Mayor 
Owens commented he asked prior to the meeting to check with the City Attorney to ensure if we 
were to add the numbers directly in the Resolution under Section 2 it would not be a problem and 
it is not a problem. Prior to doing that he felt it important to get the consensus of the Council. 
Councilman Pollard commented he agreed it should be included in the Resolution. The deviation 
will be added to Section 2. Mayor Owens commented he would also like to add the populations 
and the included deviations. He read the 6th Whereas and recommends District 1 be changed to 
show a deviation of 2% or less to match what is on the population summary. Councilman Pollard 
made a motion to pass Resolution No. 2021-12-13-2 as amended. Councilman Morgan seconded 
the motion. The motion passed by a unanimous vote. 

 



Page 4 of 6 

 

ON-PREMISES WINE ALCOHOL LICENSE – MAMARITA’S MEXICAN KITCHEN 
Mamarita’s 1, LLC dba Mamarita’s Mexican Kitchen has made application for an on-premises 
wine alcohol license. The business is located at 43 S. Scott Street and Police Chief Hendricks 
performed required background checks and approved the application. The Council recommends 
approval of the on-premises wine alcohol license for Mamarita’s Mexican Kitchen located at 43 
S. Scott Street. 

On motion by Councilman Morgan, seconded by Councilman Pollard, the motion to approve the 
on-premises wine alcohol license for Mamarita’s Mexican Kitchen located at 43 S. Scott Street 
passed by a unanimous vote. 
 
BID AWARD – CORPORATE AIRPORT HANGAR BID – GDOT/FFA 
The Council reviewed bids received on November 18, 2021 for a GDOT/FAA funded 80’ x 
60’corporate aircraft hangar. Two qualified bids were received:  
 
  • Drummond Construction Bid Amount: $296,462 
  • MVW Builders LLC  Bid Amount: $298,107 
 
The budget for the project is estimated at $250,000 and total construction cost including design 
and construction inspection services is $389,974. Funding for the project will consist of federal 
funds in the amount of $333,333 during construction and $50,976 from NPE (Non-Primary 
Entitlements) funding reimbursable in 2022. The project cost for the City of Camilla is $5,665. 
The Council recommends awarding the bid to Drummond Construction of Hawkinsville, Georgia 
in the amount of $296,462 and authorizing the City Manager to sign contract documents. 
 

On motion by Councilman Morgan, seconded by Councilman Campbell, the motion to approve 
awarding the bid for the GDOT/FAA 80’ x 60’ corporate aircraft hangar to Drummond 
Construction in the amount of $296,462 and authorization for the City Manager to sign contract 
documents passed by a unanimous vote. 
 
2022 COUNCIL MEETING SCHEDULE 
The Council reviewed the 2022 meeting schedule for Work Sessions and Council  Meetings and 
recommends approving the schedule of meeting dates and times as  presented. On motion by 
Councilman Morgan, seconded by Councilman Twitty, the motion to approve the 2022 Council 
Meeting Schedule passed by a unanimous vote. 
 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
City Manager Sykes stated his report has been provided and he included requested information in 
the report. A list of cemetery spaces sold between September 8th and December 6th are included 
in the packet. He also included City of Camilla vacant properties and listed as either a City of 
Camilla property, a land bank property, or a Development Authority property. It is not a 
complete list of all properties owned by the City but vacant properties.  
 
 



Page 5 of 6 

 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT (cont.) 
City Manager Sykes recognized the following employees for years of service:  
Wendy Barton – Police Department – 5 years 
Reginald Mobley – Solid Waste Department – 5 years 
Christopher Penny – Fire Department – 5 years 
John Thornton – Public Works – 5 years 
Eric Belinc – Fire Department – 15 years 
Denise Cochran – Customer Service – 15 years 
Shane Stinson – Fire Department – 15 years 
Arthur Thomas – Gas Department – 20 years 
Johnny Crump – Water Department – 25 years 
Randy Pool – Airport – 25 years 
Valerie Barnes – Customer Service – 30 years 
 
He stated the splash park is nearing completion with the fencing almost complete. At some point 
after January they will need to talk about a grand opening and which parts of the park they want 
to open. The picnic pavilion and playground area could be opened before the splash pad. 
Delivery of playground equipment for Toombs Park is expected in January and once installed 
appropriate fencing will be put in. He included TSPLOST paving and sidewalk projects and 
anticipates the contract to begin for TSPLOST and LMIG projects awarded by Council. A lot of 
progress in being made on the 2020 CDBG project. They are still working with two land owners 
to grant easements for the gateway signs and as soon as received it will go out for bid. A notice 
to proceed will be given to Drummond to proceed after Council action tonight for the corporate 
hangar. He reviewed the latest COVID statistics for Mitchell County and commented city 
facilities continue to be partially open to serve the community.  
 

MAYOR’S COMMENTS 
Mayor Owens stated last week one of our former assistant police chiefs, Mr. Melvin Perkins, 
passed away. Mr. Perkins worked for the City of Camilla for 40 years and he, along with our 
police chief, assistant police chief, and some of the officers, attended his funeral. The Council 
was gracious enough to support a Proclamation in his name and Mayor Owens read the 
Proclamation for the record. 
 
Mayor Owens commented as Mayor Pro Tem Twitty mentioned during our opening prayer it has 
been another tough year related to COVID and other elements through our economy and 
throughout our country. In Camilla our strategic plan and some of the elements we said we 
would do were put to work and we got it done. There is a lot more work to be done and a 
testament to the leaders around the table. He thanked City Manager Sykes and the entire city 
staff for getting a lot done.  

 
Mayor Owens congratulated Councilman Corey Morgan who received his Masters of Public 
Administration concentrating in Public Policy. 
 
He stated he wants all citizens of Camilla to enjoy their holidays, have a safe holiday season, and 
wished them well. 



Page 6 of 6 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Mayor Owens stated they would be entering Executive Session for a personnel matter and 
Facebook live feed will end and restart when they come out of the session. A motion was made 
by Councilman Palmer and seconded by Councilman Campbell to enter into Executive Session. 
The motion passed by a unanimous vote. At the conclusion of the Executive Session, a motion 
was made by Councilman Pollard and seconded by Councilman Twitty to return to the regular 
session. The motion passed by a unanimous vote. 
 
Mayor Owens announced no action was taken in Executive Session. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
On motion by Councilman Palmer, seconded by Councilman Morgan, the meeting adjourned at 
7:45 p.m. 
 
 
 
BY:       ATTEST:     
 KELVIN M. OWENS, MAYOR       CHERYL FORD, CLERK 

 

 



AGENDA ITEM #11 ~ January 10, 2022 
Reader: Vernon Twitty 

 
a. The Council reviewed contract documents related to Georgia Department of 
Transportation financial participation in the construction of Corporate Hangar Phase I at 
the Camilla-Mitchell County Airport. Staff recommends approval of the 80ft x 60ft 
Corporate Hangar contract with GDOT as presented and authorizing the City Manager to 
sign contract and related documents. 

 
MOTION:      
 
SECOND:      
 
b. The Council reviewed and discussed documentation provided by MEAG 
concerning the Proposed GPW Sale of assets at the December 6, 2021 work session.  
During the January 3, 2022 work session, the Council reviewed Resolution No. 2022-01-
10-01 authorizing execution, delivery and performance of the Fourth Amendment to the 
Telecommunications Project Contract with the Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia; 
and for other purposes. The Council recommends approval of the resolution and 
authorizing the Mayor to sign the related documents. 
 
MOTION:      
 
SECOND:      
 
 
c. At the January 3, 2022 work session, the City Manager discussed the need for 
Council adoption of the Mitchell County Pre-Disaster Hazard Mitigation plan approved by 
GEMA.  Staff recommends Council approval of Resolution No. 2022-01-10-02 pursuant 
to the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 authorizing adoption of the Mitchell County Pre-
Disaster Hazard Mitigation Plan and authorizing the Mayor to sign the related documents.   

 
MOTION:      
 
SECOND:      





























































RESOLUTION NO. 2022-01-10-01

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION, DELIVERY AND 

PERFORMANCE OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS PROJECT CONTRACT WITH THE MUNICIPAL 

ELECTRIC AUTHORITY OF GEORGIA; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

WHEREAS, City of Camilla (the "Participant") has entered into a Telecommunications 

Project Contract, dated as of May 1, 1996, with the Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia 

("MEAG Power"), as amended by a First Amendment to Telecommunications Contract, dated as 

of February 1, 1997, a Second Amendment to Telecommunications Contract, dated as of June 1, 

1997, and a Third Amendment to Telecommunications Contract, dated as of January 1, 2008; and, 

WHEREAS, in order to effect certain changes to the Telecommunications Contract, the 

Participant has determined to enter into a Fourth Amendment to the Telecommunications Contract 

with MEAG Power (the "Fourth Amendment"); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the [Mayor/Chairman] is hereby authorized 

and directed to execute and perform, and the [Clerk/Secretary], or any Assistant [Clerk/Secretary], 

is hereby authorized to attest deliver the Fourth Amendment, in substantially the form thereof that 

has been attached hereto and filed in the Minute Book of the Participant; and 

FURTHER RESOLVED that the Participant hereby authorizes the City of Camilla and the 

[Clerk/Secretary], or any Assistant [Clerk/Secretary], to take any further actions and execute and 

deliver any other documents necessary to carry out the purpose of this Resolution and the Fourth 

Amendment, as amended from time to time. 



This the_ day of ______ , 2022. 

CITY OF CAMILLA 

[Mayor/Chairman] 

ATTEST: 

[Clerk/Secretary] 

[SEAL] 





CLERK/SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE 

I, the undersigned [Clerk/Secretary] of the City of Camilla (the "Participant"), DO 

HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing pages constitute a true and correct copy of a Resolution 

adopted by the Participant at an open public meeting duly and lawfully assembled in accordance 

with Official Code of Georgia Annotated Section 50-14-1, at which a quorum was present and 

acting throughout. The original of the Resolution has been duly recorded in the minute book of 

the Participant, which is in my custody and control. 

WITNESS MY HAND this __ day of ________ , 2022. 

[Clerk/Secretary] 

(SEAL) 



GPW Asset Purchase Agreement 

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

by and between 

(Macquarie Newco, LLC] 

and 

Georgia Public Web, Inc. 

dated as of ______ , 202 _ 

Confidential 





































































































































RESOLUTION NO. 2022-01-10-02 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF CAMILLA COUNCIL PURSUANT TO THE 
DISASTER MITIGATION ACT OF 2000 AUTHORIZING ADOPTION OF THE 

MITCHELL COUNTY PRE-DISASTER HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 

WHEREAS, MITCHELL County and its municipal governments are required to 
complete a Pre-Disaster Hazard Mitigation Plan by the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000; and 

 
WHEREAS, under the provisions of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000, local 

governments that complete Pre-Disaster Hazard Mitigation Plans will remain eligible for 
Federal mitigation funding; and 

WHEREAS, MITCHELL County and its municipal governments have 
completed a PreDisaster Hazard Mitigation Plan that fulfills the Federal requirements of 
the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000. 

NOW THEREFORE LET IT BE RESOLVED that the City of Camilla 
City Council formally adopts this Pre-disaster Hazard Mitigation Plan. 
 
RESOLVED THIS ____DAY OF _____, 2022 

 
__________________________________________ 
Signed: Mayor, Camilla City Council 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Attest: City Clerk 



  

 

         

 

 

City Manager 
Monthly Report 

January 10, 2022 
 

Follow-up Info 
 

Feedback 
 

Information Updates 
 

Project Updates 
• Splash Park building, parking lot, playground and splash pad is 

substantially complete with a few punchlist items remaining. 
The signage is nearly complete.  

• Toombs Park pavilion is completed. Playground equipment has 
been ordered and anticipated for delivery in January. 

• Toombs Park basketball court renovation project is completed. 

• Boys & Girls club building renovation project has been cancelled. 
I am currently developing other options for relocation of the 
Boys & Girls club.                                                                                                                                             

• Public Wi-Fi project is complete and available for connection.  

• TSPLOST Paving & Sidewalk Project is currently under 
construction and should be finished by January 14, 2022. 

• LMIG Paving Project is currently under construction and should 
be finished by January 14, 2022. 

• The 2020 CDBG project is under construction.  

  

 
 

30 East Broad Street 
Camilla, GA 31730 

  

 

 
229.330.2300 

  

 

 
steves@cityofcamilla.com 

  

 

 
www.camillaga.net 

   



  

 

• Gateway sign plans are completed and easement acquisition for 
both US19 North & South locations are underway. Completion 
was scheduled for September 30, 2021, but easement 
acquisition delays require completion date to be revised to 
March 31, 2022. 

• Demolition & Renovation of ten (10) Dilapidated Properties 
were successfully completed. 

• Camilla Police Department completed 21st Century Policing 
Training for all officers and a Community presentation was held 
in the Camilla Depot and broadcast on the City’s Facebook 
account.  

• The GEFA water project bids were received September 16, 2021. 
The bid was awarded by Council in November and completion is 
scheduled for January 31, 2022. 

• The GEFA sewer projects are in the design phase and bids are 
being prepared for advertisement. Construction of the GEFA 
sewer projects are currently scheduled for January 31, 2022. 

• Airport Hangar construction is complete. The lease agreement 
is executed and the tenant has started installing leasehold 
improvements.  

• The FAA/GDOT funded corporate hanger bid was opened 
September 2, 2021 and only one (1) bid was received $61,000 
over budget. Council rejected the sole bid last month. The re-
bid was held on November 18, 2021. Drummond Construction 
is the low bidder and their completion date is set for 120 days 
from their Notice to Proceed.  

• The DCA PlanFirst application was submitted May 12, 2021. The 
City received word this week that the application was not 
approved this round. Staff requested and received a review 
with DCA to receive feedback on ways to improve the 
application for resubmittal. 

• A downtown signage plan consultant is being retained. 

• The Council Chamber Renovation Project is underway. 

 

 

 

 



  

Covid-19 Update 

City Facilities are now partially open to the public and customers 
are escorted to meet individually with staff. Employees are 
required to wear face coverings and use safety shields when 
meeting with customers. When visitors are not present, 
employees have the option of wearing a mask in the building. 

CUMMULATIVE TOTAL FOR MITCHELL COUNTY 

• Total positive tests – 2334 (10.6%)  

• Total hospitalization – 296 (1.3%)  

• Total reported deaths – 90 (0.4%) 

(% of Total Mitchell County population) 

THIS WEEK 

Friday December 31 – January 6, 2022 

• Weekly new positive tests – 91  

• Weekly new hospitalization – 0  

• Weekly new reported deaths - 0  

 

PRIOR WEEKS 

Friday December 24 – December 30, 2021 

• Weekly new positive tests – 45  

• Weekly new hospitalization – 0  

• Weekly new reported deaths - 0 

 

Friday December 17 – December 23, 2021 

• Weekly new positive tests – 1  

• Weekly new hospitalization – 0  

• Weekly new reported deaths - 1 

 


	Agenda packet with motions-need Mgr's report
	Motions 01-10-2022
	Agenda plus original packet
	January 10, 2022 Council Agenda-Agenda only
	January 3 2022 Work Session Agenda-with date edits


	City Manager Monthly Report January 2022
	Follow-up Info
	Feedback
	Information Updates
	Project Updates
	Covid-19 Update




